Theresa A. Ristenpart, Esq. (NSBN 9665) RISTENPART LAW, LLC 464 South Sierra Street Reno, NV 89501 (775) 200-1699

Attorney for Appellant Mr. D'Vaughn King

Electronically Filed Aug 24 2023 12:19 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA

D'VAUGHN KING,

Appellant/Petitioner,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Appellee/Respondent.

Case No. 85838

APPELLANT D'VAUGHN KING'S OPENING BRIEF

NRAP 26.1 Disclosure

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County, entered a judgement of conviction against Mr. King for Murder in the Second Degree with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, sentenced to imprisonment in the Nevada State Prison for the term of Life with the Possibility of Parole, with parole eligibility beginning when a minimum of Ten (10) years has been served. Additionally, a consecutive term of imprisonment for a minimum term of Fifty-Three (53) months to a maximum of Two Hundred and Forty (240) months for the Use of a Deadly Weapon enhancement. The district court ordered both sentences to be served consecutively to the sentence previously imposed in Case No. 10F07761 (State of California).

Mr. King filed a timely notice of appeal which was denied on December 8, 2014. On July 16, 2015, Mr. King filed a timely pro per petition for writ of habeas corpus. That petition and supplemental amended petition were dismissed by the Second Judicial District court on November 21, 2017. Mr. King filed a timely notice of appeal on December 12, 2017. On March 14, 2019, the Nevada Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the order dismissing Mr. King's petition and supplemental for habeas relief. Upon remand, the district court on January 3, 2023 ordered Mr. King's petition and supplemental petition be dismissed. Mr. King timely filed a notice of appeal on January 25, 2023. This Court has jurisdiction over this final order in a criminal case based upon the timely filing of the notice of appeal. *See* NRAP 4(b)(1)(A); NRS 177.015(3).

Mr. King is detained at High Desert State Prison.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is not presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals as it is a postconviction appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a verdict for a category A felony and deadly weapon enhancement. *See* NRAP 17(b)(3).

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- a. Whether the district court violated Mr. King's constitutional rights by denying him the right to proceed pro per at his post-conviction evidentiary hearing?
- b. Whether the district court violated Mr. King's constitutional rights by forcing with legal authority- conflicted counsel upon Mr. King for the post-conviction evidentiary hearing?
- c. Whether post-conviction counsels' performance was deficient and contrary to the interests of justice?
- d. Whether the cumulative effect of these constitutional errors deprived Mr. King of due process in violation of his constitutional rights?

IV. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On the morning of November 5, 2010, Mr. D'Vaughn King (Mr. King) and Mr. Henry Toy (Mr. Toy) picked up Ms. Cheri Mitchell (Ms. Mitchell) from the Grand Sierra Resort in Reno, Nevada. AA 0044-47. Ms. Mitchell provided directions to Mr. Tommy Young's home. AA 0046-47. The vehicle was parked around the corner and Ms. Mitchell remained in the car while the Petitioner and Mr. Toy exited the vehicle and approached Mr. Tommy Young's house. AA 0048;

Ms. Mitchell then observed Mr. King helping Mr. Toy walk back to the car. Mr. Toy had been shot in the legs. Ms. Mitchell remembers Mr. Toy making a comment about "dropping his gun." AA 0048.

V. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Trial Proceedings

Sparks Justice Court Proceedings

On April 19, 2012, the State filed a criminal complaint against Mr. King in the Sparks Justice Court in Reno, Nevada. AA 001. The criminal complaint contained one count: Murder with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a violation of NRS 200.010, NRS 200.030, and NRS 193.165. AA 001. A Warrant for Arrest and an Affidavit in Support of Warrant were issued on April 19 2012. AA 001. The Warrant was served on June 6, 2012. AA 001. Mr. King's Arraignment and Bail Hearing were set on June 7, 2012, and he was placed on a no bail hold by Judge, Honorable Susan Deriso. AA 001.

Initially, the Sparks Justice Court appointed Conflict Counsel Attorney Richard Molezzo, Esq., to represent Petitioner on June 7, 2012. AA 001. On June 20, 2012, the Sparks Justice Court vacated the Preliminary Hearing for Mr. King. AA 001. The Preliminary Hearing was continued to July 20, 2012. AA 001. On July 20, 2012, the Preliminary Hearing was waived on behalf of the Petitioner by his counsel. AA 001. On July 23, 2012, the State filed an Information charging Mr. King with one count of Murder with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a violation of NRS 200.010, NRS 200.030, and NRS 193.165. AA 0025.

Second Judicial Washoe County District Court Proceedings (CR12-1160)

On August 22, 2012, an arraignment hearing was held in the Second Judicial District Court with Honorable, Judge Patrick Flanagan presiding. AA 0025. Mr. King entered a plea of not guilty. AA 0025. After entry, Mr. King through his counsel requested a November 2013 trial date, mentioning that both parties executed a stipulation extending the trial date, but it not to exceed April 30, 2013. AA 0024.

On November 28, 2012, the Motion to set Trial was held, and defense counsel, Richard Molezzo. AA 0024. A status hearing was set for February 20, 2013, and jury trial set for August 12, 2013. AA 0024-25. At the status hearing on February 20, 2013, defense counsel requested the jury trial be continued to a further date due to the voluminous discovery, this request was denied by Judge, Honorable Patrick Flanagan. AA 0024. Following this, an ex-parte motion was filed by the Petitioner to relieve defense counsel. AA 0025.

A status hearing was held on May 3, 2013, which directly addressed the filed ex-parte motion to relieve counsel. AA 0023. Following this, an additional status hearing was held on May 8, 2013, which discussed new counsel for the Petitioner, a continuation of the jury trial, and an entry of exhibits and testimony. AA 0023. An order was filed on May 13, 2013, which appointed Mr. John Ohlson Esq. as new defense counsel for Mr. King. AA0023.

A status hearing was held on May 22, 2013, with Attorney Ohlson as the counsel for the Petitioner. AA 0023. On January 22, 2014, the Court held a Motion to Confirm Hearing which set jury trial for February 18, 2013. AA 0022.

On November 22, 2013, an Amended Information was filed. AA 0020. Mr. King changed his plea on November 25, 2013 entering a plea of guilty to Murder in the Second Degree with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, a violation of NRS 200.010, NRS 200.030, and NRS 193.165. AA 0020. Sentencing was held on January 22, 2014, whereupon Mr. King was sentenced to imprisonment in the Nevada State Prison for the term of Life with the Possibility of Parole, with parole eligibility beginning when a minimum of Ten (10) years has been served. Additionally, a consecutive term of imprisonment for a minimum term of Fifty-Three (53) months to a maximum of Two Hundred and Forty (240) months for the Use of a Deadly Weapon enhancement. AA 0065-68. The district court ordered both sentences to be served consecutively to the sentence previously imposed in Case No. 10F07761 (State of California).

The Judgment of Conviction was issued on January 22, 2014. AA 0070-71. The Defendant's Counsel withdrew on January 27, 2014. AA 0019. Mr. King filed a timely Notice of Appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court on January 31, 2014. AA 0019.

Direct Appeal Proceedings (Nevada S. Ct. Case Number 64983)

On February 7, 2014, a notice of appeal and appeal statement was filed in this Court stating Petitioner would represent himself pro per. AA 0018-19. Attorney Karla Butko was appointed to represent Mr. King on his direct appeal. AA 0018. This Court affirmed Mr. King's conviction on December 8, 2014. AA 0018. Remittitur was filed on December 30, 2014. AA 0018.

B. Post-Conviction Proceedings

Second Judicial Washoe County District Court Proceedings (CR12-1160)

On July 16, 2015, Mr. King filed a pro se Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, a Motion for Leave of Court for permission to exceed page limit, an application to Appoint Counsel, and a Motion to Proceed Forma Pauperis. AA 0017. His pro se petition was typed and contained eight different grounds for ineffective assistance of counsel. Ground I of Mr. King's petition argued Attorney Ohlson was ineffective at sentencing for failing to present mitigating evidence, including evidence supporting Mr. King's ability to be rehabilitated as demonstrated by his counseling and programming achievements at Washoe County jail prior to sentencing.

Attorney Mary Lou Wilson was appointed counsel for Mr. King. AA 0017. A motion for an extension of time was filed on May 20, 2016 followed by a second motion for extension of time filed on July 28, 2016. AA 0016-17.

On October 8, 2016, the district court appointed Attorney Troy Jordon to represent Mr. King on his petition. AA 0015-16. On December 12, 2016, Mr. Jordan filed a stipulation for an extension of time and Washoe County District Appellate Attorney Jennifer Noble substituted in for the State. AA 0016. Following several additional stipulations for extensions of time, Mr. Jordan filed a supplemental petition for writ of habeas corpus on March 30, 2017. AA 0014-15.

In that supplemental petition, Attorney Jordan argued that expert witness Dr. Martha Mahaffey was expected to testify that had the psychological evaluation been presented, it would have shown a low risk to re-offend, and that Petitioner was amenable to treatment and rehabilitation. AA 0076.

"If granted an evidentiary hearing, would present Dr. Martha Mahaffey who is expected to testify that had the evaluation been presented, it would have shown a low risk to reoffend, was amenable to treatment and rehabilitation. Further, other mitigating psychological evidence such as the impact Mr. King's ADHD, learning disabilities, drug abuse, and childhood would have been presented indicating the need for rehabilitation. This piece of mitigating evidence would have been crucial for sentencing. The failure of counsel to present this evidence was deficient performance." AA 0076.

On May 10, 2017, the State filed an Answer to the Petition and Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). AA 0014.

On September 15, 2017, Petitioner's counsel filed a request for submission and for an evidentiary hearing. AA 0014. On November 21, 2017, Washoe County District Court Judge David Hardy summarily ordered the petition dismissed without an evidentiary hearing. AA 0014.

Direct Appeal Order Dismissing Post-Conviction Petition

(Nevada S.Ct. 74703, 74703-COA)

On December 12, 2017, Attorney Jordan filed a timely notice of appeal. AA 0013-14. In the opening brief filed on May 2, 2018, Attorney Jordan argued that the district court should have granted an evidentiary hearing pursuant to *Hartgrove v. State*, 100 Nev. 498 (1984) and *Evans v. State*, 117 Nev. 609, 621, 28 P.3d 498, 507 (2001). AA 0090. Attorney Jordan argued:

"Ground I of the supplemental petition indicated that that Petitioner's trial counsel failed to call Dr. Martha Mahaffey in mitigation at sentencing and had she been called at sentencing the outcome would have been different. AA124-AA125. Despite, Dr. Mahaffey never testifying previously, the Court found the claim to be belied by the record. AA135. Given that Mahaffey never testified, the claim cannot as a matter of law be belied by the record because the evidence was not before the court in the first instance. There was no argument by the State nor a finding made by the court that the claim was inadequately pled. Therefore, pursuant to *Hargrove*, the claim was entitled to an evidentiary hearing. The Court's finding was an abuse of discretion and not supported by the record." AA 0090.

The case was transferred to the Nevada Court of Appeals on September 13, 2018. On March 14, 2019, the Nevada Court of Appeals issued an order reversing and remanding and remand finding "we are unable to conclude the district court did not err by dismissing King's petition without first conducting an evidentiary hearing. We

therefore remand this matter to the district court to conduct an evidentiary hearing on King's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to present expert mitigating evidence at the sentencing hearing." AA 0095-102.

Remand Second Judicial Washoe County District Court Proceedings (CR12-1162)

Remittitur was issued on April 10, 2019. AA 0012. On May 9, 2019, Attorney Jordan filed a motion to withdraw as counsel which was granted on May 14, 2019. AA 0012. The district court then appointed Attorney Victoria Oldenburg on June 7, 2019 as Mr. King's counsel. AA 0012. An evidentiary hearing was set for September 4, 2019. AA 0012. This evidentiary hearing was continued by stipulation of the parties and reset to January 16, 2020. AA 0011.

On December 16, 2019, Attorney Oldenburg filed a stipulated second request to continue the evidentiary hearing indicating that counsel needed time to secure a psychological expert for Mr. King. AA 0011. The district court directed parties to file a supplemental memorandum to support their request for a continuance. AA 0011. On December 20, 2019, Attorney Oldenburg filed a memorandum attesting that she received an incomplete case file from Attorney Jordan which was missing documents. AA 0103-106. Attorney Oldenburg also attested that Dr. Martha Mahaffey declared she had never worked on Mr. King's case and had never evaluated him. AA 0103-106.

The district court granted the continuance, and the evidentiary hearing was reset for April 29, 2020. AA 0011. On April 21, 2020, parties filed a stipulation to continue the evidentiary hearing again pursuant to Administrative Order 2020-04 (pertaining to COVID) and the hearing was reset for August 4, 2020. AA 0010. That hearing was rescheduled for September 29, 2020 via audiovisual means. AA 0009. On August 20, 2020, Attorney Oldenburg filed a stipulation to continue that September court date to accommodate in person and transport for Mr. King. AA 009. The evidentiary hearing was reset for March 1, 2022. AA 0008. The district court then reset the evidentiary hearing due to a calendar conflict and the hearing was reset for June 27, 2022. AA 0008.

On June 6, 2022, Mr. King, pro per, filed a motion to substitute counsel, a motion for Attorney Oldenburg to withdraw, and a motion for enlargement of time. AA 0007. On June 14, 2022, Attorney Oldenburg filed a stipulation to vacate the June 27, 2022 evidentiary hearing based upon Mr. King's recent pleadings. AA 0006. On June 27, 2022, the district court ordered Mr. King's motions stricken as "fugitive documents." AA 0006.

Direct Appeal Order Striking Motions (Nevada S. Ct. 85135)

On August 8, 2022, Mr. King filed pro per a notice appealing the district court's order striking his motions and request for Attorney Oldenburg to be removed as counsel from his case. AA 0006. This Court issued an order on August 22, 2022

dismissing Mr. King's appeal citing lack of jurisdiction. AA 0005. Remittitur was issued September 20, 2022. AA 0005.

<u>Remanded Second Judicial Washoe County District Court Proceedings – Evidentiary Hearing (CR12-1162)</u>

On November 21, 2022, the district court held an evidentiary hearing. AA 0109. Senior Judge Jerome Polaha presided over the hearing instead of assigned District Court Judge Henry Walker. AA 00115-116.

At the hearing, Mr. King reiterated his request to have Attorney Oldenburg removed as his counsel. AA 00111-121. Attorney Oldenburg informed the court that Mr. King had filed a bar complaint and civil suit against her. AA 00111. Judge Polaha ruled that there was no issue with Attorney Oldenburg continuing to represent Mr. King, despite a bar complaint and pending civil litigation. AA 00121.

Mr. King then requested a "Faretta hearing" stating that he "would request to represent himself." AA 00122.

The Court: You want to represent yourself?

Mr. King: If you are not willing to relieve her [Oldenburg] of the chair, yes.

The Court: I have to relieve her if I'm going to appoint –

Mr. King: I mean, I don't want to be a fool as a client and represent myself, but if I'm under this situation where she refuses to remove herself and you refuse to remove her from my case, yes, I'm left with no other option.

AA 00127.

Mr. King reiterated several times that he wanted to represent himself. AA 00130-131.

The district court denied Mr. King's request and proceeded forward with the evidentiary hearing. AA 00131. Attorney Oldenburg called one (1) witness Dr. Hixon-Brenenstall. AA 00128. The State called Attorney John Ohlson. AA 00163.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Polaha ruled that he did not find ineffective assistance of trial counsel. AA 00190. Judge Polaha stated that he, personally, would reduce Mr. King's weapon enhancement sentence to the agreed upon maximum of 72 months from the imposed sentence 240 months. AA 00191. The State opposed that idea arguing there were no grounds for resentence. AA 00191-192.

On December 16, 2022, Mr. King pro per filed a timely notice of appeal. AA 004-5. On the same day, Attorney Oldenburg filed a motion to withdraw stating "Over the last several months the level of communication between counsel and Mr. King has degraded to the point where little to no meaningful communication is had." AA 00194-195. The order dismissing Mr. King's petition was filed on January 3, 2023. AA 00199-202. On January 25, 2023, Mr. King filed another pro per notice of appeal given the order being appealed was filed on January 3, 2023 after his first pro per notice of appeal. AA 002.

VI. ARGUMENT

a. THE DISTRICT COURT VIOLATED MR. KING'S CONSTITUIONAL RIGHTS BY DENYING HIM THE RIGHT TO PROCEED PRO PER AT HIS EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

"The right to defend is given directly to the accused; for it is he who suffers the consequences if the defense fails. It is the defendant who must be free personally to decide whether in his particular case counsel is to his advantage. And although he may conduct his own defense ultimately to his own detriment, his choice must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law." *Johnson v. State*, 117 Nev. 153, 155, 17 P.3d 1008 (2001) citing *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 819-820 (1975).

The constitution does not force a lawyer upon a defendant. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 807 (1975). The right to defend is personal. Id. at 834. The defendant, and not his lawyer or the State, will bear the personal consequences of a conviction. It is the defendant, therefore, who must be free personally to decide whether in his particular case counsel is to his advantage. Id. In assessing a waiver of counsel, the question before the district court is not whether the defendant can competently represent himself, but whether he can knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to counsel. Tanksley v. State, 113 Nev. 997, 1001, 946 P.2d 148, 150 (1997)

"The defendant's technical knowledge is not the relevant inquiry. In order for a defendant's waiver of right to counsel to withstand constitutional scrutiny, the judge need only be convinced that the defendant made his decision with a clear comprehension of the attendant risks." *Graves v. State*, 112 Nev. 118, 124, 912 P.2d 234, 238 (1996) (citing *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 835-36). A request for self-representation may *not* be denied solely because the court considers the defendant to lack reasonable

Lyons v. State, 106 Nev. 438, 444, 796 P.2d 210, 217 (1990).

Here, the district court violated Mr. King's constitutional right to represent himself at the evidentiary hearing. Though a court may in limited circumstances deny a defendant the right to proceed pro per, see Lyons v. State, 106 Nev. 438, 443-44, 796 P.2d 210, 213 (1990), none of those circumstances existed in this case. The State did not object to Mr. King's request to represent himself at the hearing. "If he wants to proceed today in proper person, I have no objection to that." AA 00128. Mr. King informed the judge that he was taking college classes and about to graduate college. AA 00117, AA 00182. When asked about the nature of the proceedings, Mr. King artfully and correctly articulated the purpose of the evidentiary hearing. AA 00123. The district court judge even complimented Mr. King's pro per pleadings as "very lawyer like." AA 00182. The district court judge at sentencing found Mr. King "very intelligent, articulate individual." AA 0065. Mr. King was respectful to the court, not disruptive, and engaged appropriately in answering the court's questions.

Judge Polaha never articulated the grounds for his decision to summarily deny Mr. King's request to proceed pro per. AA 00131.

The denial of this right to proceed pro per is never subject to harmful error analysis; it is *per se* harmful. *McKaskle v. Wiggins*, 465 U.S. 168, 177 (1984). The denial of the right to proceed pro se at trial requires automatic reversal. *See Arizona* v. *Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 309, 113 L. Ed. 2d 302, 111 S. Ct. 1246 (1991). As such,

this Court should reverse this district court's order dismissing Mr. King's postconviction petition and supplemental petition.

b. THE DISTRICT COURT HAD NO STATUTORY OR CONSTITUIONAL BASIS TO FORCE COUNSEL UPON MR. KING FOR THE POST-CONVICTION EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

There is no constitutional or statutory right to the assistance of counsel in noncapital post-conviction proceedings. *Brown v. McDaniel*, 130 Nev. 565, 569, 331 P.3d 867, 870 (2014). Under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution there is no right to effective assistance of counsel, or to counsel at all, in post-conviction proceedings. *See Coleman v. Thompson*, 501 U.S. 722, 752 (1991); *Pennsylvania v. Finley*, 481 U.S. 551, 555 (1987); *Bonin v. Vasquez*, 999 F.2d 425, 429-30 (9th Cir. 1993).

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