IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

D'VAUGHN KING, Appellant, No. 85838 Electronically Filed Oct 09 2023 04:23 PM

Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

THERESA RISTENPART CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS

Washoe County District Attorney

RISTENPART LAW, LLC 464 South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501 JENNIFER P. NOBLE Chief Appellate Deputy One South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals remanded this matter for a limited evidentiary hearing regarding ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing.

Specifically, it remanded based on King's claim that a psychological evaluation would have shown he is a low risk to re-offend. Following the remand, new post-conviction counsel Victoria Oldenburg was appointed. A psychological evaluation was conducted by Dr. Hixon-Brenenstall, but the

particular evaluator named in the previous appeal, Dr. Martha Mahaffey, had never evaluated King, and was not interested in evaluating him. Dr. Hixon-Brenenstall's evaluation opined that King was a moderate to moderately high risk to re-offend.

King did not like the evaluation, and demanded that his new postconviction counsel obtain a second evaluation. She tried but was
unsuccessful. Displeased, King sought to have his appointed counsel
removed, but maintained that he wanted an attorney during the postconviction proceedings, because he did not like the evaluation and
disagreed with the evaluator's approach. King also claimed he had filed a
bar complaint against Oldenburg. Although King also requested selfrepresentation at various points, those requests were equivocal at best. The
district court declined to remove Oldenburg, who was confident that she
could present evidence regarding the claim that was the subject of the
remand.

In this appeal, King does not focus on the merits of the claim that trial counsel was ineffective at sentencing with respect to mitigation evidence.

Instead, he asserts that he had an absolute right to represent himself during the habeas proceeding, despite his equivocation regarding his desire to do so. He also claims that Oldenburg had a conflict of interest and that she

was ineffective during the post-conviction proceeding. These arguments are legally infirm and factually unsupported. This Court should affirm the decision of the district court.

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a petitioner must show (1) counsel's performance was deficient because it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) the deficiency prejudiced the defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 997, 923 P.2d 1102, 1114 (1996) (adopting the *Strickland* test). Trial counsel's performance is prejudicial if "a reasonable probability [exists] that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Id.* at 694. A petitioner must prove the facts underlying his ineffective assistance claims by a preponderance of the evidence. *Means v. State*, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012, 102 P.3d 25, 33 (2004). Both prongs of the ineffective assistance inquiry must be shown. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 697.

"[T]he cases in which habeas petitioners can properly prevail [] are few and far between." *Waters v. Thomas*, 46 F.3d 1506, 1511 (11th Cir. 1995). "Counsel's performance is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness which takes into consideration prevailing professional

norms and the totality of the circumstances." *Homick v. State*, 112 Nev. 304, 310, 913 P.2d 1280, 1285 (1996) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). "[I]n examining a counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, it is easy for a court to conclude that certain acts or omissions by counsel were unreasonable." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689). "Therefore, there is a presumption that trial counsel was effective and 'fully discharged' his duties." Id. (citing Davis v. State, 107 Nev. 600, 601, 817 P.2d 1169, 1170 (1991)). "This presumption can only be overcome by strong and convincing proof to the contrary." Id. (quoting Davis, 107 Nev. at 602, 817 P.2d at 1170) (quoting Lenz v. State, 97 Nev. 65, 66, 624 P.2d 15, 16 (1981)). Accordingly, counsel's strategic or tactical decisions will be "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." Doleman v. State, 112 Nev. 843, 848, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996) (quoting Howard v. State, 106 Nev. 713, 722, 800 P.2d 175, 180 (1990)).

"No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89. The Court has noted that "[a]ny such set of rules would interfere with the constitutionally protected independence of counsel and restrict the wide latitude counsel

must have in making tactical decisions." *Id.* "[T]he purpose of the effective assistance guarantee of the Sixth Amendment is not to improve the quality of legal representation, although that is a goal of considerable importance to the legal system. The purpose is simply to ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial." *Id.*

"The purpose of ineffectiveness review is not to grade counsel's performance." Chandler v. U.S., 218 F.3d 1305, 1313 (11th Cir. 2000) (citing Strickland; White v. Singletary, 972 F.2d 1218, 1221 (11th Cir.1992)) ("We are not interested in grading lawyers' performances; we are interested in whether the adversarial process at trial, in fact, worked adequately."). "Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another." Strickland. "Different lawyers have different gifts; this fact, as well as differing circumstances from case to case, means the range of what might be a reasonable approach at trial must be broad. To state the obvious: the trial lawyers, in every case, could have done something more or something different. So, omissions are inevitable. But, the issue is not what is possible or 'what is prudent or appropriate, but only what is constitutionally compelled." Chandler, 218 F.3d at 1313 (quoting Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776 (1987)).

"[B]ecause counsel's conduct is presumed reasonable, for a petitioner to show that the conduct was unreasonable, a petitioner must establish that no competent counsel would have taken the action that his counsel did take." *Id.* at 1315. "The test has nothing to do with what the best lawyers would have done. Nor is the test even what most good lawyers would have done. We ask only whether some reasonable lawyer at the trial could have acted, in the circumstances, as defense counsel acted at trial." *Waters v. Thomas*, 46 F.3d 1506, 1512 (11th Cir.1995).

"No lawyer can be expected to have considered all of the ways. If a defense lawyer pursued course A, it is immaterial that some other reasonable courses of defense (that the lawyer did not think of at all) existed and that the lawyer's pursuit of course A was not a deliberate choice between course A, course B, and so on. The lawyer's strategy was course A. And, our inquiry is limited to whether this strategy, that is, course A, might have been a reasonable one." *Chandler*, 218 F.3d at 1351 n.16.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. <u>King Told the District Court He Did Not Want to Represent Himself.</u>

King claims that his constitutional rights were violated because he was not permitted to proceed in proper person during the limited evidentiary hearing. In support of this position, King cites various

authorities pertaining to the right to self-representation at a criminal trial. Not one of these authorities stand for the proposition that a petitioner in a post-conviction habeas corpus proceeding has a right to self-representation. Moreover, even at trial, "[a] district court may[...] deny a defendant's request for self-representation where the 'request is untimely, the request is equivocal, the request is made solely for the purpose of delay, the defendant abuses his right by disrupting the judicial process, or the defendant is incompetent to waive his right to counsel.'" *O'Neill v. State*, 123 Nev. 9, 17, 153 P.3d 38 (2007), *quoting Tanksley v. State*, 113 Nev. 997, 1000, 946 P.2d 148, 150 (1997).

Here, the record reflects that King's request to represent himself was equivocal at best, made in order to delay, so that he could get a new evaluation, and to disrupt the judicial process. King's objection to Oldenburg's representation was based on his dissatisfaction with the results of the psychological evaluation, which reflected that he is a moderate to moderately high risk to re-offend. The judge asked King what he thought Oldenburg had not done that should have been done. *Id.*, 122-127. King replied that he objected to the psychological evaluation focusing on his background prior to the offense, and not "things that have happened since then." *Id.* King then argued that he disagreed with the evaluator's

conclusion that his ability to read and write was remedial, and that he was a moderate to moderately high risk to re-offend. *Id*. King wanted the district court to focus on his growth since the offense, and the district court stated that that type of information was appropriate for the Board of Pardons. *Id*. King disagreed, stating "I believe everything should globally to be taken into account." *Id*. Observing King's demeanor and frequent interruptions, the judge stated "That's what you believe. I understand that. Here's my opinion, my opinion is you enjoy doing this." *Id*.

King's argument completely ignores that the nature of his demand was that the district court remove post-conviction attorney Oldenburg and appoint another attorney. Though he vacillated back and forth during the first portion of the post-conviction hearing, it was clear to the judge that King was endeavoring to create a conflict with Oldenburg, and to position himself to later claim that he was "forced" to represent himself during the limited evidentiary hearing. King told the judge that "I don't want to be a fool as a client and represent myself, but if I'm under this situation where she refuses to remove herself and you refuse to remove her from my case, yes, I'm left with no other option." *Id.*, 127-129. King again told the judge that "I do not want or have the desire to represent myself, but--." *Id.*, 130-131. The district court replied discerning this strategy and told King, "Then

I'm not going to let you represent yourself if you don't want to do it. If you're saying you're forced to do it, I'm not going to do that." *Id*. King then stated that he wanted another counsel appointed: "I'm asking the Court to be willing to appoint me another counsel. That's what I'm asking." *Id.*, 130.

King relies on not a single authority establishing that he had a right to self-representation during a statutory post-conviction proceeding. Even if the right to self-representation in the post-conviction habeas context mirrored the right to self-representation at trial, King stated multiple times that he wanted to have an attorney represent him. It was apparent that he was trying to delay the proceedings and disrupt the judicial process with the hope of obtaining a new evaluation with a more favorable conclusion. Thus, the district court had no obligation to allow him to represent himself. *O'Neill, supra; Tanksley, supra*.

B. The Mere Filing of a Bar Complaint Does Not Establish a Per Se Conflict of Interest.

Because he did not like that result of his evaluation, King attempted to manufacture a spurious "conflict of interest" by stating that he had filed a bar complaint against Oldenburg so that he could get a new attorney, and a new evaluation with a risk assessment he desired. Oldenburg indicated she had not been contacted by the Nevada bar, and that she was not aware of King's purported complaint. When Oldenburg took on the case, she

Jordan had never occurred. She found a new evaluator. After King did not like the evaluator's conclusion, Oldenburg tried to find another evaluator, but was unsuccessful. AA 119-121. Oldenburg indicated that she was prepared to go forward to with the evidentiary hearing and that King's grievance would not affect her representation. *Id.*, 119-121.

King cites no portion of the record demonstrating that his complaint about Oldenburg created an actual conflict of interest. The mere filing of a bar complaint against counsel does not automatically create a per se conflict of interest. *Jefferson v. State*, 133 Nev. 874, 878, 410 P.3d 1000 (2017), *citing State v. Michael*, 161 Ariz. 382, 778 P.2d 1278, 1280 (1989); *Gaines v. State*, 706 So.2d 47, 49 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1998); *Holsey v. State*, 291 Ga. App. 216, 661 S.E.2d 621, 626 (2008).

C. <u>King Was Not Entitled to Effective Assistance of Post-Conviction</u> Counsel, But He Received Excellent Representation.

In this non-capital post-conviction habeas proceeding, King had "no federal constitutional, state constitutional or statutory right to counsel, or effective assistance of counsel." *McKague v. Whitley*, 112 Nev. 159, 163, 912 P.2d 255 (1996); NRS 34.810(3). "Where there is no right to counsel there can be no deprivation of effective assistance of counsel." *Id.* at 165.

Ignoring for a moment that King was not necessarily entitled to effective assistance of post-conviction counsel, the entire basis of his argument that Oldenburg was ineffective was that she did not present an evaluation from Dr. Mahaffey. Alternatively, King suggests that former post-conviction attorney, Troy Jordan, was ineffective for representing that Dr. Mahaffey had evaluated him. However, he cites no authority establishing that he was entitled to the testimony of a particular expert, and the State is aware of no such authority. If King's contention is that he is entitled to effective assistance of counsel for purposes of his habeas claims, and that failure to present a particular expert constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel in this post-conviction context, he is free to argue that in a subsequent petition—not in this direct appeal.

Moreover, Oldenburg explained to King that Dr. Mahaffey had never rendered the opinion represented by prior counsel Jordan, but that she had retained another expert, who was coming out to visit King. AA 119-121.

But once the evaluation came back, King was not happy with the results.

Id. He wanted a second evaluation, so Oldenburg contacted Dr. Mahaffey again, but Dr. Mahaffey was not interested or available. Id. Oldenburg also reached out to a Dr. Paglini, but that evaluator did not think a second evaluation was appropriate given the results of the first. Id. This

demonstrates that Oldenburg went above and beyond to secure an evaluation, consistent with the Order of Reversal and Remand.

D. No Relief is Warranted Under the Cumulative Error Doctrine.

King also claims that the doctrine of cumulative error entitles him to relief. However, in support of this claim, he cites non-binding authority from the Ninth Circuit. The Nevada Supreme Court has taken a different approach, and has not adopted the doctrine of cumulative error as part of a *Strickland* analysis. In *McConnell v. State*, 125 Nev. 243, 259, 212 P.3d 307, 318 (2009), the Court explained that "we are not convinced this is the correct standard."

More importantly, King urges this Court to examine whether the purported "cumulative errors" examined in Sections A-C above violated his right to a fair trial. Again, this was a limited evidentiary hearing on a post-conviction petition for habeas corpus—not a trial. As the State has demonstrated, no error occurred during the evidentiary hearing, so there are no errors to cumulate. Additionally, no cumulative error claims were raised in the petition or supplemental petition below. Therefore, they may not properly be considered for the first time in this appeal. *See McNelton v. State*, 115 Nev. 396, 415-16, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275-76 (1999).

///

VIII. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully submits that the district court's decision should be affirmed.